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The Pamplin Pipe Factory (44Apl) is located on the northwest corner of the
intersection of Business Route 460 and State Route 1103 in Pamplin, a small town
in south-central Virginia. The 2.96 acres nominated are currently owned by Raymond
and Nancy Dickerson and, according to deed research, comprise most of the land
originally utilized by the pipe factory. The property consists of two and one-—
eighth acres acquired as a parcel in 1879, to which the additional fraction of an acre
was added in 1931. Although the physical plant of the Pamplin Pipe Factory has under-
gone modifications over the years, the archaeological remains of earlier factory
buildings survive intact below groynd.

" In 1980 ‘three major structurés are staunding on the factory property: a wooden—
framed factory building sheéathed with corrugated sheet-metal siding and roofing, a
deteriorated brick kiln, and a collapsed brick chimney associated with the kiln
(Photos 1 and 2). A 1915 photograph taken by the Virginia Geological Survey
(Photo 3) shows a factory building with a more steeply pitched roof and higher ridge
line at the site of the present building. Although it is not known precisely when this
newer structure was built, according to oral tradition the earlier factory building
was destroyed hy fire ca. 1928-1930, requiring the construction of a replacement.

A series of photographs taken between 1940 and 1979 document the claim that the recent
building was in use during the final phases of the factory's operation.

Study of the 1915 photograph and comparison between the 1938 plat of the pro-
perty and the present factory layout reveal that the present building is constructed
over a portion of the earlier factory site (Map 1). From 1915 until at least 1976
a shed~1iké structure connected the factory bailding to the kilm, which in turn,
was surrounded by a shed. This kiln shed was removed by 1968, although the one
connecting the factory with the kiln remained until it,too, was removed by the pre—
sent owner in order to install a parking facility and a septic field. The condi-
tion of the factory building has beén stabilized by the present owners.

The othér’ two above-ground features at the site, the kiln and kiln chimney,
have remained unmodified since at least 1915 when they were photographed. The
condition of the brick fabric of the kiln has deteriorated, however, and in 1975
vandals collapsed a portion of the kiln chimney. By their presence on the property
the present owners protect the kiln and chimney from further disturbance.

An archaecological survey was conducted at the Pamplin Pipe Factory by the
Virginia Research Center for Archaeology in 1979. The archaeological remains of a
brick foundation, designated Structure A on a 1938 plat of the property, were
located. This building is shown on Map 1. A second in situ brick foundation (photo 5),
designated Structure D, was located to the east of Structure A. Further investigation
located the site of Structure E, adjacent to State Route 1103. The site of Structure
C, according to the 1938 plat, should lie between the present factory building
{(Structure B) and Structure D. This area was not examined. Three walled springs,
shown on the 1938 plat, are situated to the north of Structure C and are be-
lieved to have been used to provide water for a steam eongine housed in Structure C.

(See Continuation Sheet #1)
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The Pamplin Pipe Factory property in Pamplin, Virginia contains the archacological

remains of several consecutive periods of clay pipe manufacture. Preclaimed by its
1935 owners to be the largest facility of its kind in the Umited States and possibly
the world, the Pamplin Pipe Factory was purported to produce one million pipes a
month. Excavation of the Pamplin Pipe Factory, a facility known to have been in. ‘op—
eration since at least 1879, would reveal unique information about the evolu-
tion of pipe manufacturing technology during the last one hundred years. Because the
remains of a still-earlier pipe manufacturing site are probably present on the pro-
perty, the opportunity exists for additional primary research.

Iocal tradition alleges that pipemaking as a cottage industry occurred in the
Pamplin area as early as 1739, although there is no documentary evidence to support
this claim. Early census recoxrds ca. 1800-1860 record pipemakers in other localities
but list none for Pamplin. There is some evidence that John Taber, a New Englander,
introduced handmade pipe technology to the Pamplin area between 1850 and 1860, thereby
establishing pipemaking as a hone. industry. .The Pamplin Pipe Factory, however, is
the first site in Virginia where pipe manufacture is known to have been undertaken
on a mass-production basis,

The earliest documented owners of the Pamplin Pipe Factory property were J.R.

Franklin and his wife, who sold it to W.G. Merrill and a Mr. Ford on September 2, 1879.

Although it is not known whether Franklin had previously manufactured pipes at the
site or had distributed handmade/homemade local pipes, his name is linked with the
pipemaking industry. An archaeolegical investigation of the Sternwheeler Bertrand,
which sank in the Missouri River on April 1, 1865, yielded a shipment of so—called
Pamplin pipes, cargo for which J.R. Franklin and Company is listed as sole agent.

Whether or not pipes were made or sold on the Pamplin site prior to Merrill and
Tord's 1879 purchase, a Schedule of Virginia Manufacturersfor 1880 compiled by the
United States Bureau of Census indicates that between June 1872 and June 1830 those
two men made a capital outlay of $12,000 and began operating a clay pipe factory in
Pamplin City. They employed thirty persons in their operation, fifteen men, ten
women and five children. The workers were paid an average daily wage of sixty cents

each. Reed-stemmed clay tobacco pipes were produced by hand-and foot-powered machinery;

steam power was also used in the process, although its role has not yet been de-
fined. The raw material used in pipe manufacture was valued at $500 a year, whereas
the finished products were worth $1,700.

{See Continuatign Sheet #2)
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Although the continuous operation of the Pamplin Pipe Factory since 1879 is
well documented, archaeological excavations would reveal much about the layout and
operation of the pipe factory in its earliest days. It would also be possible to

trace the evolution of pipe manufacturing technology at the most productive facility
of its type in the nation.
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Research conducted by Byron Sudbury has revealed that W.G. Merrill was the son
of E.H. Merrill of Akron, Ohio, a pipe and stoneware manufacturer and inventor of
pipemaking machinery. The younger Merrill had been employed in 1877 in his father's
factory, E.H. Merrill and Sons, and came to Pamplin with a knowledge of stoneware
technology and of the mass production of clay pipes.

In 1890 the Pamplin Pipe Factory was purchased by the Akron Smoking Pipe Company.
This company operated the pipe manufactory until 1919. Due to an 1892 fire which
destroyed the Appomattox Courthouse records, there is no extantdeed decumenting the
‘transfer of the manufactory property from Merrill and Ford to the Akron Smoking Pipe
Company. The factory continued to be runm by W.G., Merrill, who was included in the
Company's Board of Directors. The Akron Smoking Pipe Company also owned a pipe
manufacturing plant in Mogadore, Ohio, but concentrated its pipemaking efforts at
Pamplin eventually converting its Mogadore plant to the manufacture of electrical
insulators.

By 1919 commercial clay pipe manufacture had peaked. The Akron Smoking Pipe
Company sold out and then dissolved. Three local businessmen, C.F. Harvey, J.W.
Franklin and S5.P. Loving, purchased the pipe factory property and called it the
Pamplin Smoking Pipe and Manufacturing Company. Recognizing the decline of the clay
pipe industry,they attempted product diversification, manufacturing building materials
as well as clay pipes. Their endeavor was unsuccessful and on July 27, 1929 the
Pamplin Pipe Manufacturing Company was sold at public auction to J.F. Connally.

Connally retained the property only for twe months. He sold it in September
1929 to a newly chartered firm, the Pamplin Smoking Pipe and Manufacturing Company,
Inc., whose charter stated that it would deal in wood and timbering, real estate,
construction work, building material sales and clay pipe and earthenware manufacture.
This corporation acquired one .and one-fourth acres of adjacent land from the estate
of C.F. Harvey in 1931. By 1935 the factory was reportedly producing one million
pipes a month and claimed to be the largest clay pipe manufacturer in the world.
Even so, the factory was sold at public auction in September 1938, at which time it
was purchased by Ralph Dombrowner and Morton Wallerstein. (Photos 7,8,9,10)

During the years of Dombrowner-Wallerstein ownership the Company failed to make
a profit despite extensive advertising. Emphasis was placed on novelty and souvenir
pipes and the retailing of local handmade pipes. A Company trademark was developed
during this period, a stereotypical Hollywood Indian with a Powhatan—style pipe.
In February 1952 the Pamplin Smoking Pipe and Manufacturing Cempany was dissolved.
Ralph Dombrowner claimed that local handmade pipes were no longer available mor were
reed stems readily obtained. Most likely, however, it was the rising cost of labor,
specifically the enactment of the Minimum Wage law in 1938, which sealed its fate.

(See Continuation Sheet #3)
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After Wallerstein and Dombrowner closed their factory the Pamplin factory lot
was sold in succession to W. B. and Thelma P. Bruce in 1951 and Charlie and Mary E.
Ranson in 1961. On December 6, 1976 the Pamplin Pipe Factory property was sold to
the present owners, Raymond and Nancy Dickerson. Dickerson currently produces a
small number of Robert E. Lee pipe facsimilies which he sells as souvenirs., He
uses a portion of the extant factory building as a small museum and operates an
auction house in the rear of the building.

The Pamplin Pipe Factory warrants inclusion in the Virginia Landmarks Register
and the National Register of Historic Places because it was at one time the largest
clay pipe factory in America, supplying a national and international market. Clay
pipes produced at Pamplin have been recovered from archaeological sites throughout
the United States.

A folk tradition which traces the origin of Pamplin pipes to the Furopean-
Aboriginal contact period has perpetuated interest in the factory. Pipe manufactur-
ing machinery from the Pamplin Pipe Factory is on display at the Smithsonian Institu-
tion in Washington, D. C.. and the Williamsburg Pottery Factory in Williamsburg ,
Virginia.

Many researchers have studied the Pamplin Pipe Factory, but their work has
focused upon documents and artifacts instead of the archseclogical record, Although
a small portion of the site has been disturbed by construction, most of it remains
in situ. An archaealogical excavation could yield valuable data on the
sequence of the pipe factory's physical evolution and the evolution of pipe manu-
facturing technology. It could also determine whether pipe making occurred on
the site prior to 1879.

Archacological research also could yield insight into the lives of the nine-
teenth century factory workers in Virginia and the conditions under which they worked.
Such research would be likely to produce new data on an industry which was highly
significant to the development of the economy of the Pamplin area. These data
could be juxtaposed against parallel data derived from the excavation of a cottage
industry pipemaking site.
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